
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

March 16, 2021  5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember John Riggs 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 02-12-2021 Executive Session Minutes 
b) 03-02-2021 Council Minutes 
c) 03-02-2021 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to declare equipment in the Public Works & Engineering 
Department as surplus and approve disposition of said equipment.   

 
5. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Application V-21-02-01: 

Jason McGibboney requests a variance from Article V, Section 503(D) of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance on 1.03 acres of property located at 378 Savannah Avenue in order to 
construct a new addition to the existing office (Tax Parcel# S52 000021 000). 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Application SE-21-02-
01: Alivia Lloyd requests a special exception from Article IX, Section 901 on 0.49 acres 
of property located at 372 Savannah Avenue in order to operate a retail tea shop in the 
existing building (Tax Parcel # S52 000020 000). 
 

7. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
Sec. 6-5: 
     
     Food Lion LLC 
     325 Northside Dr E 
     Statesboro, Ga 30458 
     Owner: Food Lion 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2021-13: A Resolution amending the 
job position classification and compensation to reclassify the position from Customer 
Service Representative to Utility Billing Clerk. 

 
9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2021-14: A Resolution Approving 

Application for Funding in the amount of $5,000.00 from the 2021 Cigarette Litter Stand 
Request Form - KAB Community Grant Application. 
 



 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2021-15: A Resolution Approving 
Application for Funding in the amount of $2,500 to $20,000 from the 2021 Cigarette 
Litter Prevention Program (CLPP) Keep America Beautiful Community Grant 
Application. 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2021-16: A Resolution Approving 
Application for Funding in the amount of $5,000.00 from the 2021 UPS Community & 
Recovery Tree Planting - KAB Community Grant Application. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to approve a contract with South Georgia Family Medicine 
Associates PC (John Gerguis, M.D.) to serve as the Statesboro Fire Departments 
Physician (also referred to as Statesboro Fire Department Medical Director). 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve award of contract to GameTime in the amount of 
$499,684.22 and authorize the Mayor to execute contract documents for installation of 
playground equipment at Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park. 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
 
15.  City Managers Comments 
 
16. Public Comments (General) 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

MARCH 2, 2021 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 
Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
Invocation and Pledge 
Councilmember Venus Mack gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

ATTENDENCE  
Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Mayor Pro Tem Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Via Zoom  
John Riggs Councilmember Via Zoom   
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
Recess for Urban Redevelopment Agency Meeting. 
 
At 9:01 am, a motion was made to recess the Council meeting for the Urban Redevelopment Agency Meeting.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
At 9:18 am, a motion was made to reconvene the Council Meeting.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



2 
 

Recognitions/Public Presentations 
a) Presentation of GMA certificate to Councilmember Phil Boyum 

 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar presented a GMA Certificate of Distinction plaque to Councilmember Phil Boyum. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 02-12-2021 Called Council Minutes 
b) 02-16-2021 Work Session Minutes 
c) 02-16-2021 Council Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2021-01: An Ordinance amending 
the Statesboro Code of Ordinances Chapter 38-26 adding the International Property Maintenance Code 
to applicable codes for determination of nuisance.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated at the last meeting Council approved the first reading of this ordinance the issue with 
this is when it was initially presented to Council it was presented with a grass height of 18 inches however the document 
that was approved for first reading stated a grass height of 12 inches and staff recommends the adoption at 18 inches.  
 
City Attorney Cain Smith stated this would be considered a significant change to the ordinance and would have to revert 
to first reading.   
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated if changing one number in a forty-page document reverts it back to first reading then 
I will make a motion to suspend the rules and then make a motion to include the change in there.  
 
A motion was made to suspend the rules for ordinance adoptions.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Councilmember Shari Barr requests that at least until the end of COVID that we also include a show of hands on votes. 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

 
A motion was made to approve the second reading of Ordinance 2021-01 with the single modification of changing the 
grass height from 12 inches to 18 inches per management request.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS 
 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve a third lease agreement with T-Mobile regarding Makecki Drive 
water tower.  
 
A motion was made to approve a third lease agreement with T-Mobile regarding Melecki Drive water tower.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Consideration of a motion to award a contract to John E Lavender & Associates in the amount of 
$2,877,954.00 and authorize the Mayor to execute contract documents for the Luetta Moore Park and 
Grady Street Park improvements project.  
 
A motion was made to award a contract to John E Lavender & Associates in the amount of $2,877,954.00 and authorize 
the Mayor to execute contract documents for the Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park improvements project.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved 4-1 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs 

Councilmember Shari Barr 



4 
 

Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Wood Environment and Infrastructure Solutions in 
the not to exceed amount of $33,560.00 and authorize the Mayor to execute contract documents for 
construction administration services for the Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park project.   
 
A motion was made to award a contract to Wood Environment and Infrastructure Solutions in the amount not to exceed 
$33,560.00 and authorize the Mayor to execute contract documents for construction administration services for the 
Luetta Moore and Grady Street Park project.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2021-11: A Resolution requesting approval to apply 
for the Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response (SAFER) Grant for the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia 
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2021-11 approving the request to apply for the Staffing for Adequate Fire 
and Emergency Response (SAFER) Grant for the City of Statesboro, Georgia.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2021-12: A Resolution requesting approval for a grant 
through the Criminal Justice Coordinating Council for the City of Statesboro, Georgia.  
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2021-12 approving the request for a grant through the Criminal Justice 
Coordinating Council for the City of Statesboro, Georgia.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

 
Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Hussey, Gay, Bell for professional services to conduct 
a Wastewater Treatment Plant Study in an amount not to exceed $52,250.00. 
 
A motion was made to award a contract the Hussey, Gay, Bell for professional services to conduct a Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Study in an amount not to exceed $52,250.00.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Other Business from City Council:  
 
Councilmember Shari Barr announced that the folks who are eligible for SNAP or EBT benefits there is a state program 
to encourage healthy eating like fresh vegetables and fresh fruits. The program is where a person can buy $20 worth of 
groceries and get another $20 worth of fresh fruits and vegetables free. Our local main street farmers market is 
participating in this program. There is a kick off this evening for this program at the Outreach Center on Denmark Street 
from 5:30 pm to 7:00 pm where eligible individuals can go to sign up to participate.      
 
City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny brought to Mayor and Councils attention in the FYI packet, he shared with them information 
as it relates to the Rental/Mortgage assistance program and as of yesterday over $95,000.00 of the $100,000.00 has been 
used. The Utility Assistance is still there and has spent just under $9,000.00 of the $62,000.00. 
 
On Saturday morning March 6th at 9:00am, One Boro and the City will be hosting a session from 9 – 11 on “Secure 
Statesboro”. The Police Department, Sheriff’s Department, Georgia Southern University, and some of the agencies that 
provide assistance for domestic abuse and things of that nature will be there presenting information. This session is open 
to the public. We will be discussing what resources we have available in the City and what resources we need in order 
to secure Statesboro. It will be held at the Military Science Building on campus at Georgia Southern University.       
 
March is very busy, this weekend we have the Secure Statesboro and next weekend City Council will be on a Council 
Retreat, March 12th and 13th and that will be at Jekyll Island. 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith announced that the Urban Redevelopment Agency this morning did approve a $4.5 million 
Bond Resolution with Truist Bank with an interest rate of 1.47 percent with a maturity date of October 1, 2030. The first 
five years SPLOST funds will cover the amount and later on if SPLOST is not renewed then the City’s taxing authority 
would be on the hook to make those payments beyond that.  
        
Public Comments (General): None 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Real Estate” in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 
 
At 9:45 am a motion was made to enter into Executive Session.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
At 10:01 am a motion was made to exit Executive Session.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting back to order with not action taken in Executive Session. 
 
City Manager Charles Penny mentioned with the approval of the contract to begin work, our plan is that we will give a 
notice to proceed on March 12th. We would like to schedule a groundbreaking, since there are two parks what we would 
do is have one ceremony with speaking parks at Luetta Moore Park and then do a ceremonial ground breaking at Grady 
Street Park. We are looking at March 16th at 3:00pm. The County has been put on notice of the plan and unless we just 
have a drenching rainfall the plan would be to move forward with that groundbreaking.    
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:04 am. 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director - Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  March 1, 2021  
 
RE:  Asset Surplus and Disposition 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing Policy Section: Vehicle and Equipment Surplus and Disposition 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends and request the consideration of a motion for council approval for disposing of 
surplus in the Public Works Department, Streets and Parks divisions to include the following items listed 
below. 
 
Background:  
The equipment listed below has exceeded their useful life or met average run-time and needs to be 
declared surplus and approved for disposition: 
 
2008 Brown Rotary Mower 6’ Model 472, Vin#6B1944 
2016 Exmark LZE 52 inch side discharge commercial mower, Serial Number 316625876, 552 hrs 
2016 Exmark LZE 52 inch side discharge commercial mower, Serial Number 400145393, 802 hrs 
 
This action is part of our rotation program for our commercial mowers. This rotation plan allows for 
average 600-800 hours run-time on the mowers which gives us a better trade in value. This lowers the 
life cycle costs and reduces downtime of the mowers. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Reduce Maintenance Cost 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachment(s): None 
 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner II 

 

Date: March 5, 2021 

 

RE: March 16, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Variance requested by V 

21-02-01 with conditions.  

 

Background: Jason McGibboney requests a variance from Article V, Section 

503(D) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance on 1.03 acres of property located 

at 378 Savannah Avenue in order to construct a new addition to the existing 

office (Tax Parcel# S52 000021 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (V 21-02-01) 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 21-02-01 

ZONING VARIANCE REQUEST 

378 Savannah Avenue 

LOCATION: 378 Savannah Avenue  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

O (Office) 

ACRES: 1.03 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S52 000021 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 3 (Mack) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Medical Office 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Medical Office 

PETITIONER                 Dr. Jason McGibony 

ADDRESS                     378 Savannah Avenue, Statesboro GA 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Frank D’Archangelo 

ADDRESS                    12A East Grady Street 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a variance from Article V, Section 503(D) of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance to construct a new addition on a 1.03 acre lot located in the O (Office) zoning 
district. The applicant requests a rear setback variance because the existing building is 
currently located over the setback and the proposed addition would be the same distance 
from the rear property line. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

V 21-02-01 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: CR (Commercial Retail) Fraternal Building  

Northeast Location Area #2: CR (Commercial Retail) Inactive Gas Station 

East Location Area #3: CR (Commercial Retail) Behavioral Health Office 

Northwest Location Area #4: CR (Commercial Retail) Daycare 

Southeast Location Area #5:  R-15/O (Single-Family 
Residential/Office) 

Medical Office 

South Location Area #6: O (Office) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #7: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

West Location Area #8: O (Office) Tea Shop 



Page 6 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a 1.03 acre lot containing a brick structure built in 1971 with paved 
concrete parking lot and garage. The applicant is seeking to add an addition onto the 
existing structure in the rear of the property. The rear of the property has a setback of 
twenty-five feet from the property line. The current structure is approximately fifteen feet 
over the rear setback. The applicant is seeking to obtain a variance to build the addition 
with the same distance from the rear property line as the existing building. Although the 
building is located in the O (Office) zoning district, regulations regarding setbacks are 
calculated using the nearest residential zone to the District, therefore requiring the R15 
(Single-Family Residential) setback of 25 feet in the rear, and an aggregate of 25 feet for 
the side yards on all development. 

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site as a part of the “Neighborhood Center” character area, which normally would be 
characterized by a blend of lower to medium density residential and commercial, personal 
service, and offices that are neighborhood scale in size and intensity. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard 
area.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is currently served by city utilities, sanitation and public safety. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request.   

ZONING VARIANCE STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides for the award of variances by the City Council 
from the zoning regulations, stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, 
and substantial justice done.” Article XVIII, Section 1801 of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following are true in 
its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in 
question because of its size, shape, topography, or other physical 
characteristic and that condition is not common to other land or buildings 
in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

 Although the subject site has sufficient land to allow for development in 
the O (Office) zone, the site does not meet setback requirements for an 
addition. However, the existing building was built over the original 
setback.   

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions 
of the applicant; 

 The building on site is listed as being built in 1971, whereas the 
applicant took ownership of the property in 2012. There are no records 
showing the applicant was involved with establishing the current site 
plan.  



Page 7 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

 

3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would 
create an unnecessary hardship; and 

 The existing structure was built over the setback but no addition to the 
existing building could be built on the site without a variance from the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. This would prevent any expansion of the 
business in the current location, unless creating a new structure on the 
site. 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

 The building is situated on 1.03 acre lot with room for an addition. An 
extension could be located on the site if not for the current setback 
requirements.  

 

Article XVIII, Section 1802 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance further outlines the 
qualifications needed to grant a variance to the zoning ordinance. These include 
uses that are consistent with the purpose and intent of the zoning ordinance and 
district in which the use is proposed to be located; uses that do not detract from 
neighboring property; and uses that are consistent with other uses in the area. In 
order to meet these qualifications, approval of any special exception for the 
proposed use at the subject parcel should (if necessary) include conditions that 
will ensure that development along this corridor remains consistent with the 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and that 
serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding area’s character, 
uses, and zones.  

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
Neighborhood Center” as stated in the 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master 
Plan. The proposed use can be considered a lower intensity commercial 
use, specifically medical in nature, which is also consistent with the property 
zoning.  

 

 



Page 8 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case V 21-02-01 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of V 21-02-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City 
Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this variance does not grant the right to begin development on this site. All 
development must be permitted and approved prior to construction.   

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on March 2, 2021, the 
Commission voted to Approve V 21-02-01 with a 5-0 vote. 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner II 

 

Date: March 5, 2021 

 

RE: March 16, 2021 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Special Exception Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Special Exception 

requested by SE 21-02-02 with conditions.  

 

Background: Alivia Lloyd requests a special exception from Article IX, Section 

901 on 0.49 acres of property located at 372 Savannah Avenue in order to 

operate a retail tea shop in the existing building (Tax Parcel # S52 000020 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)   

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (SE 21-02-02) 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 SE 21-02-02 

SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUEST 

372 Savannah Avenue 

LOCATION: 372 Savannah Ave  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

O (Office) 

ACRES: 0.49 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S52 000020 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 3 (Mack) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

N/A 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Retail 

PETITIONER                 Alivia Lloyd 

ADDRESS                     102 Buckhaven Way, Statesboro GA 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Same as Above 

ADDRESS                     

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a special exception to locate a retail tea shop in a building on 0.49 
acres in the O (Office) zoning district. The use as a tea shop (retail) is not an allowed use 
in the O zoning district unless granted a special exception by the City Council.  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

SE 21-02-02 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

 



Page 3 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

  



Page 4 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

 



Page 5 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: CR (Commercial Retail) Residential Conversion 

Northeast Location Area #2: CR (Commercial Retail) Fraternal Building 

East Location Area #3: O (Office) Dentist Office 

Northwest Location Area #4: CR (Commercial Retail) Daycare 

Southeast Location Area #5: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

South Location Area #6: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #7: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Residential Dwelling 

West Location Area #8: O (Office) Vacant Lot 



Page 6 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site contains a converted single-family home with 0.49 acres. Tax assessor 
information shows construction of the building to have taken place in 1930. The last 
business located in this building was a pet grooming business. Surrounding properties 
include dental offices, a daycare, and other commercial uses.   

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site as a part of both the “Neighborhood Center”” character area and the “Established 
Residential Neighborhood” character area, which normally would provide a transitional 
corridor from residential to commercial neighborhoods (established residential) or as a 
buffer between single-family residential to a more intense commercial use (Neighborhood 
Center).    

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard 
area. No additional permitting would be required unless the incoming business would 
require significant alterations to the building.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is currently served by city utilities, sanitation and public safety. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request.   

CONDITIONAL ZONING STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits the grant of conditional zoning upon a finding by 
the governing body that the requested use is “of the same general character” as those uses 
permitted within the district without the grant of a special exception and requires that “in 
determining the compatibility of the conditional use with adjacent properties and the overall 
community, the Mayor and City Council (will) consider the same criteria and guidelines [as 
for] determinations of amendments, as well as the following factors”. 

Article XXIV, Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists seven (7) factors that 
should be considered by the Mayor and City Council “in determining the compatibility” of 
the requested use with adjacent properties and the overall community for considerations of 
Conditional Use Variances, or Special Exceptions as follows: 

(A) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse 
environmental impact of the proposed use to an acceptable level.  

 The nature of the business is more aligned with a traditional commercial 
venture than would currently be allowed in the Office District. There is 
currently a traditional retail flag shop in the area, and the proposed use 
would not have an intense impact on the surrounding area. 

(B) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be 
substantially hindered or endangered.  

 The proposed use of the existing building would not cause any new 
obstruction to the existing roadway, or the traffic on adjacent streets.   

(C) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such 
parking and loading, will be adequate in terms of location, amount, and design 
to serve the use.  



Page 7 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

 The proposed location does contain off-street parking, and based on the 
type of business, this should be sufficient for the proposed use. Limited 
seating would not likely cause an increase in the necessity of parking 
spaces in the front of the building.   

(D) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed 
use.  

 Building Inspections by the Building Inspections Division (i.e. Building 
Official) have not been conducted, but will be required for the issuance of 
the Occupational Tax Certificate. 

(E) The proposed use will not have significant adverse effect on the level of 
property values or the general character of the area. 

 An appraisal has not been conducted, however due to the continuously 
changing nature of the neighborhood, it is unlikely that property values are 
negatively affected. 

(F) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved 
conditional use shall be considered part of the approval and must be 
followed.  

 No new plans have been submitted with this document, as there is currently 
no desired site changes or additional proposed development.  

(G)  Approval of a proposed use by the Mayor and City Council does not 
constitute [an] approval for future expansion of or additions or changes to 
the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes that are 
considered significant by the Planning Commission and not included in the 
original approval are subject to the provisions of this section and the review 
of new detailed plans and reports for said alterations by the governing 
authority.  

 Any significant future phases or changes to this proposal must first be 
reviewed and approved by Staff. 

Article XVIII, Section 1802 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance further outlines the 
qualifications needed to grant a special exception to the zoning ordinance. These 
include uses that are consistent with the purpose and intent of the zoning 
ordinance and district in which the use is proposed to be located; uses that do not 
detract from neighboring property; and uses that are consistent with other uses in 
the area. In order to meet these qualifications, approval of any special exception for 
the proposed use at the subject parcel should (if necessary) include conditions 
that will ensure that development along this corridor remains consistent with the 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and that 
serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding area’s character, 
uses, and zones.  

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s two character areas 
(“Neighborhood Center, and Established Residential”) as stated in the 2019 
– 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan. The proposed use adequately 
mitigates negative effects of the use to the surrounding area’s character, 
uses and zones.  



Page 8 of 8 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 21-02-02 

 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of SE 21-02-02. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City 
Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated condition(s): 

(1) Approval of the special exception may only allow for the addition of retail and wholesale 
establishments as per Article VIII, Section 801(A) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance.  

(2) No additional development may take place on the property without approval.   

(3) If the business increases the amount of seating in the building, consideration must be taken 
to expand the parking facilities of the location.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on March 2, 2021 the Commission 
voted to Approve SE 21-02-02 with a 5-0 vote.  

 

























 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 

 

From: Demetrius C. Bynes, Director of Human Resources 

 

Date: March 4, 2021 

 

RE: Reclassification Request – Customer Service 

 

Background: The Condrey compensation study recommended reclassifying the position occupied by 

Krista Cooper to Utility Billing Supervisor.  During this timeframe, one of the existing Customer Service 

Representatives began performing various utility billing duties.  Recently, Cindy West and Krista Cooper 

submitted a request to review the job duties of this position.   

 

Recommendation: The recommendation is to reclassify the position from Customer Service 

Representative to Utility Billing Clerk.  The Factor Evaluation System (FES), a classification system 

developed by the U.S. Civil Service Commission, was utilized based upon the recommendation of Condrey 

and Associates.  After a thorough review of the position, the position was assigned 1130 points which aligns 

with pay grade 11.  In summary, the specifics are as follows: 

 

Current Job Title – Customer Service Representative 

Current Pay Grade – 10 

Current Hourly Rate – $14.19 

 

Recommended Job Title – Utility Billing Clerk 

Recommended Pay Grade – 11 

Min/Mid/Max – $14.90/$18.63/$22.36 

Recommended Hourly Rate for the Incumbent – $14.90 

 

Please notify me if you have questions or concerns.  Thank you.   

 

 



RESOLUTION 2021-13: A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE JOB 
POSITION CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
THAT WHEREAS, it is essential to have qualified municipal employees in 

order to provide reliable services to the citizens of Statesboro; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to accomplish this the Mayor and City Council previously 
have adopted a new Job Position Classification and Compensation Plan on April 5, 
2017; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager has made a recommendation to reclassify a 

Customer Service Representative in the Customer Service Unit. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia in regular session assembled this 16th day of March 2021 as 
follows: 

 
Section 1. That the Job Position Classification and Compensation Plan, which 

includes a list of job titles and pay grades; a grade and step pay matrix; and written 
job  descriptions for each position with City government, previously adopted on April 
5, 2017, and as subsequently amended, is hereby further amended as follows: 

 
• That the Customer Service Representative position in the Customer 

Service Unit is hereby amended by reclassifying to the position of Utility 
Billing Clerk. The pay grade is 11 and the minimum salary is $14.90 per 
hour. 

 
Section 2. That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 

and after its date of adoption. 
 

Passed and adopted this 16th day of March 2021. 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
By: ____________________________________ 
    Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: __________________________________ 
         Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:   John Washington – Director - Public Works and Engineering Department 
 
Date:   March 4, 2021 
 
RE:  2021 Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant 
 
Policy Issue:  City of Statesboro Grant Policy  
 
Recommendation: 
Staff requests approval to submit an application for the 2021 Cigarette Litter Collection Stands 
Grant under the umbrella of the Keep America Beautiful (KAB) Unify & Beautiful Community 
Grant. The grant award is a number amount of receptacle stands that are requested by Keep 
Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful (KSBB). 
 
Background: 
The Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant allows for KAB affiliates to request a specific 
number of cigarette stands to help aid in collecting cigarette litter. This grant would allow KSBB 
to ask for a number of stands that can be placed around downtown and public areas. If 
awarded this grant along with the 2021 Cigarette Litter Prevention Program Grant, KSBB will be 
able to cut down on cigarette waste within the city limits as well as educate the public on the 
harmful effects of cigarette litter. 
 
Budget Impact: 
These grants will not directly impact the general budget. 
 
Council Person or District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
2021 Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant Application 



RESOLUTION 2021-14:  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPLICATION FOR THE 2021 CIGARETTE LITTER PREVENTION 
PROGRAM (CLPP) GRANT AND THE 2021 CIGARETTE LITTER STAND REQUEST FORM GRANT 

 

THAT WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that there is a need to aid in cigarette 
butt litter prevention within the Statesboro, GA city limits because of cigarette butt litter’s  
harmful effects on the environment; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that the Keep America Beautiful 2021 
Cigarette Litter Prevention Program Grant and the 2021 Cigarette Litter Stand Request Grant is 
desirable in order to provide financial support to the purchase of equipment to be placed on or 
around public spaces; to increase cleanliness and reduce harmful effects that come with littering 
cigarette butts; and reduce cigarette butt litter in public spaces in or near downtown Statesboro, 
Georgia and, 

WHEREAS, city staff will prepare an application to said program in order to obtain funding in the 
dollar amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and twelve (12) receptacles to purchase 
receptacles, signage and conduct appropriate public relations campaigns in order to combat 
cigarette butt litter in Statesboro, Georgia; and, 

WHEREAS, said program will begin once funds are awarded in May, 2021; and, 

WHEREAS, funds are given directly from Keep America Beautiful and will not directly impact the 
City of Statesboro’s general budget. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the submittal of application to Keep 
America Beautiful for funding from the 2021 Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant. 

Section 2.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all documents related to the 
application. 

      Adopted this 16th day of March, 2021 

      STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

      _______________________________ 
      By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 

      _______________________________ 
      Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:   John Washington – Director of Public Works and Engineering Department 
 
Date:   March 4, 2021 
 
RE:  2021 CLPP Keep America Beautiful Community Grant Application 
 
Policy Issue:  City of Statesboro Grant Policy  
 
Recommendation: 
Staff request approval to submit an application for the 2021 Cigarette Litter Prevention Program (CLPP) 
Keep America Beautiful Community Grant Application under the umbrella of the Keep America Beautiful 
(KAB) Unify & Beautiful Community Grant. Grant award ranges from $2,500-$20,000. 
 
Background: 
The Cigarette Litter Prevention Program (CLPP) Grant is one of the largest programs in the nation aimed 
to support the KAB Affiliate Network, other nonprofit organizations, and community groups to 
implement programs to promote clean, green, and beautiful places for all to thrive and enjoy. Funding is 
available to promote recycling collection infrastructure, beautification through tree planting, and 
prevent litter by addressing cigarette litter and litter in the nation's waters. Since its beginning, the 
program has been implemented in more than 1,800 communities. This specific grant would allow KSBB 
to implement its first ever Cigarette Litter Prevention Program that focuses on collecting cigarette waste 
in designated locations around Statesboro public spaces. KSBB seeks to drastically reduce cigarette litter 
within the city limits. If awarded the grant, KSBB will be able to implement the program by promoting 
marketing tactics against cigarette litter and purchasing cigarette receptacles to place in various public 
outdoor spaces. 
 
Budget Impact: 
These grants will not directly impact the general budget. 
 
Council Person or District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
2021 CLPP Keep America Beautiful Community Grant Application 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-15:  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPLICATION FOR THE 2021 CIGARETTE LITTER PREVENTION 
PROGRAM (CLPP) KEEP AMERICA BEAUTIFUL (KAB) COMMUNITY GRANT APPLICATION 

 

THAT WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that there is a need to aid in cigarette 
butt litter prevention within the Statesboro, GA city limits because of cigarette butt litter’s  
harmful effects on the environment; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that the Keep America Beautiful 2021 
Cigarette Litter Prevention Program Grant is desirable in order to provide financial support to the 
purchase materials, advertisements, etc. to implement the program by promoting marketing 
tactics against cigarette litter and purchasing cigarette receptacles to place in various public 
outdoor spaces and, 

WHEREAS, city staff will prepare an application to said program in order to obtain grant award 
amounts ranging from $2,500-$20,000 to purchase materials, advertisements, signage and 
conduct appropriate public relations campaigns in order to combat cigarette butt litter in 
Statesboro, Georgia; and, 

WHEREAS, said program will begin once funds are awarded in May, 2021; and, 

WHEREAS, funds are given directly from Keep America Beautiful and will not directly impact the 
City of Statesboro’s general budget. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the submittal of application to 2021 
CLPP Keep America Beautiful Community Grant Application. 

Section 2.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all documents related to the 
application. 

      Adopted this 16th day of March, 2021 

      STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

      _______________________________ 
      By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 

      _______________________________ 
      Attest: Leah Harding, City Clerk 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:   John Washington – Director - Public Works and Engineering Department 
 
Date:   March 4, 2021 
 
RE:  2021 UPS Tree Community & Recovery Tree Planting Grant 
 
Policy Issue:  City of Statesboro Grant Policy  
 
Recommendation: 
Staff request approval to submit an application for the UPS Tree Community & Recovery 
Tree Planting Grant under the umbrella of the Keep America Beautiful (KAB) Unify & 
Beautiful Community Grant. Grant award is $5,000. 
 
Background: 
The KAB 2021 UPS Tree Community & Recovery Tree Planting Grant is a grant sponsored 
by UPS to help communities replant trees in their community to increase canopy size. This 
grant would allow Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful (KSBB) to replace trees in Statesboro 
that have been removed due to disease or natural disaster. KSBB specifically seeks to 
replace trees that have been removed from specific locations in the Historical District(s). 
Among these areas are Savannah Ave, College Blvd, and Park Ave. If awarded, KSBB will be 
able to replace trees in the specified area, ultimately increasing the city’s tree canopy 
percentage and implementing beautification within the city limits. 
 
Budget Impact: 
These grants will not directly impact the general budget. 
 
Council Person or District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
2021 UPS Community & Recovery Tree Planting Grant Application 
  



RESOLUTION 2021-16: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING APPLICATION FOR THE UPS TREE COMMUNITY & RECOVERY TREE 
PLANTING GRANT 

 

THAT WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that there is a need to replace trees 
within the Historic District of Statesboro, Georgia, that have been removed due to age or disease. 
This area includes public property on Savannah Ave, College Blvd, and Park Ave; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have found that the Keep America Beautiful 2021 UPS 
Tree Community & Recovery Tree Planting Grant is desirable in order to provide financial support 
to the planting of new trees in the Historic District in Statesboro, Georgia to increase 
beautification and canopy percentage; and, 

WHEREAS, city staff will prepare an application to said program in order to provide funding that 
is in the dollar amount of $5,000 to help purchase trees and tree accessories for installation 
within the Historic District of Statesboro, Georgia; and, 

WHEREAS, said program will begin once funds are awarded in May, 2021; and, 

WHEREAS, funds are given directly from Keep America Beautiful and will not directly impact the 
City of Statesboro’s general budget. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the submittal of application to Keep 
America Beautiful for funding from the 2021 UPS Tree Community & Recovery Tree Planting 
Grant  

 

      Adopted this 16th day of March, 2021 

      STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

      _______________________________ 
      By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 

      _______________________________ 
      Attest: Leah Harding, City Clerk 



Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager  
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date: 3-8-2021 
 

RE: Contract with South Georgia Family Medicine Associates PC (John Gerguis M.D.) to serve as the Statesboro 
Fire Department Physician (also referred to as Statesboro Fire Department Medical Director). 

 
Policy Issue: NA 
 
Recommendation: Allow the Statesboro Fire Department to enter into a contract with South Georgia Family 
Medicine Associates PC (John Gerguis M.D.) to serve as the Statesboro Fire Department Physician/Medical 
Director. 
 
Background: The Statesboro Fire Department has implemented several programs and/or initiatives over the past 
several years as part of its commitment to the health and safety of its personnel.  The Statesboro Fire Department 
Physician/Medical Director will assist the Department in meeting NFPA standards related to health and wellness.  
This position will serve as a resource for the Fire Department as it relates to policy development and 
implementation, assist with the oversight of other Department health and wellness programs, conduct “fit for 
duty” and “return to work” assessments as well as provide medical screenings to department personnel.  The 
primary goal for having a Fire Department Physician is to ensure that personnel are being evaluated and meeting 
health and wellness standards in a consistent and proactive manner.  
 
Budget Impact: The Statesboro Fire Department was awarded $25,000 through the Assistance to Firefighters 
Grant (AFG) to assist the Department with the Fire Department Physician Program.  This $25,000 will be paid to 
South Georgia Family Medicine Associates PC for John Gerguis M.D. to serve as Statesboro Fire Department’s 
Physician/Medical Director as outlined in the position description and scope of services.  All costs for services not 
included in the Scope of Services (i.e. lab work, x-rays, etc.) will be paid through the Fire Department’s Operating 
Budget. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments:  

1. Contract with South Georgia Family Medicine Associates PC 
2. Statesboro Fire Department Medical Director Position Description and Scope of Service.    











STATESBORO FIRE DEPARTMENT 
MEDICAL DIRECTOR POSITION 
DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES 
  

 

Page 1 of 3 

Executive Summary 
This document is intended to provide a structured framework for the ongoing management 
of an occupational safety, health and wellness program at the Statesboro Fire Department.  
SFD is a full-time career fire department with approximately 50 members.  The majority of 
firefighting personnel work a 24/48 schedule with other administrative staff working a 
traditional 40 hour work week.   
 
The Fire Department Medical Director will work closely with the Fire Chief and his/her 
designee(s) including the Health and Safety Officer, as well as staff from Georgia Southern 
University’s Department of Health Sciences and Kinesiology including a program director, 
graduate assistants, and a certified athletic trainer. The Georgia Southern partnership 
provides fire department personnel with personalized workout plans, nutrition and 
wellness information, and emotional wellness resources.  Fitness evaluations are 
conducted annually for all fire department personnel including strength, flexibility, body 
composition, EKG and bloodwork.   
 
Firefighters face a hazardous work environment and are at higher risk for many illnesses 
compared to the general population.  Approximately 50% of firefighter line-of-duty deaths 
are cardiac related.  The occupational safety, health and wellness program is designed to 
combat the risk factors associated with the occupation of firefighting.  The program is 
designed to reduce workplace injuries and strengthen firefighters’ physical performance 
while producing a better quality of life for the employee.   
 
Purpose of Classification 
 
The Statesboro Fire Department Medical Director shall: 
 

1. Serve as an expert advisor and consultant to the Chief of the Fire Department. 
2. Serve as a liaison between the Fire Department and the local medical 

community.   
3. Understand the physical and emotional demands placed on firefighters. 
4. Understand the environmental working conditions of a firefighter.   
5. Provide expert guidance relating to the physical and emotional health and well-

being of Fire Department personnel according to NFPA 1500 – Standard on Fire 
Department Occupational Safety, Health and Wellness Program.   

6. Perform annual evaluations of Fire Department personnel to ensure they are fit-
for-duty in accordance with NFPA 1582 – Standard on Comprehensive 
Occupational Medical Program for Fire Departments. 

a. Understand the physiological, psychological, and environmental demands 
placed on fire fighters 

b. Evaluate fire department candidates and members to identify medical 
conditions that could affect their ability to safely respond to and 
participate in emergency operations 

c. Utilize the essential job task descriptions supplied by the fire department 
to determine a candidate’s or a member’s medical certification 



STATESBORO FIRE DEPARTMENT 
MEDICAL DIRECTOR POSITION 
DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES 
  

 

Page 2 of 3 

d. Identify and report the presence of Category A or disqualifying Category 
B medical conditions if present in candidates 

e. Inform the fire chief or his/her designee whether or not the candidate or 
current member is medically certified to safely perform the essential job 
tasks  

f. Report the results of the medical evaluation to the candidate or current 
member, including any medical condition(s) identified during the medical 
evaluation, and the recommendation as to whether the candidate or 
current member is medically certified to safely perform the essential job 
tasks  

g. Forward copies of any abnormal results along with patient instructions 
regarding primary care follow-up to candidates or current members who 
were instructed to seek (as appropriate) medical follow-up to address any 
medical conditions, or lab abnormalities, identified during the medical 
evaluation  

h. Review results of the annual occupational fitness evaluation as described 
in Chapter 8 on NFPA 1582. 

i. Provide or arrange for a prescriptive rehabilitation and/or fitness program 
when indicated to aid a member’s recovery from illness or injury and 
enhance his/her ability to safely perform essential job tasks 

7. Perform medical evaluations of current and new hire candidates including 
medical history, examination, EKG, and any laboratory tests required to detect 
physical or medical conditions that could adversely affect their ability to safely 
perform the essential job tasks outlined in NFPA 1582 Chapter 5.   

8. When medical evaluations are conducted by a physician or medical provider 
other than the fire department physician, the evaluation shall be reviewed and 
approved by the fire department physician. 

9. The fire department physician shall review individual medical evaluations and 
aggregate data from member evaluations in order to detect evidence of 
occupational exposure(s) or clusters of occupational disease 

10. The fire department physician shall be a member of the Fire Department 
Occupational Safety and Health Committee chaired by the health and safety 
officer as required by NFPA 1500, Standard on Fire Department Occupational 
Safety and Health Program 

11. The fire department physician shall provide medical supervision for the fire 
department fitness, return-to-duty rehab programs, return-to-duty evaluations, 
and physical conditioning programs as required by NFPA 1583, Standard on 
Health‐Related Fitness Programs for Fire Department Members 

12. The fire department physician shall provide supervision for the fire department 
infection control program as required by NFPA 1581, Standard on Fire 
Department Infection Control Program. 

13. Report findings of medical exams/evaluations to the patients. 
14. Convey to the Fire Chief whether a candidate or firefighter is medically certified 

to perform the essential job tasks outlined in NFPA 1582 Chapter 5. 
15. Serve as a supervising medical provider for the Department’s athletic trainer. 

   



STATESBORO FIRE DEPARTMENT 
MEDICAL DIRECTOR POSITION 
DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES 
  

 

Page 3 of 3 

 
 
 
 
Minimum Qualifications 
The medical director shall be a physician licensed to practice medicine in the state of 
Georgia and subject to approval by the Fire Chief or his/her designee. 
 
Additional Qualifications 
Must be a US Citizen or resident status and must possess and maintain a valid Georgia 
driver’s license.  Must possess and maintain all required State of Georgia certifications 
and/or licensures.  
 
ADA Compliance  
 
Physical Ability: Tasks require the ability to exert heavy physical effort in heavy work, 
with greater emphasis on climbing and balancing, but typically also involving some 
combination of stooping, kneeling, crouching, lifting, carrying, and pushing. 
 
Sensory Requirements: Some tasks require the ability to perceive and discriminate 
colors or shades of colors, sounds, odor, depth, texture, and visual cues or signals. Some 
tasks require the ability to communicate orally. 
 
Environmental Factors: Performance of essential functions may require exposure to 
adverse environmental conditions, such as dirt, dust, pollen, odors, wetness, humidity, 
rain, fumes, temperature and noise extremes, machinery, vibrations, electric currents, 
traffic hazards, toxic agents, violence, disease, or pathogenic substances. 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
     
Date:  March 8, 2021 
 
RE:  Recommendation of Award of Contract to GameTime for Playground 

Equipment Luetta Moore Park and Rev. W. D. Kent Park Improvements 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends award of contract to GameTime in the amount of $499,684.22 and authorize the Mayor 
to execute contract documents for installation of playground equipment at Luetta Moore Park and Grady 
Street Park (Rev. W. D. Kent Park). 
 
Background:  
City staff solicited Requests for Qualifications for the installation of playground equipment for the Luetta 
Moore Park and Grady Street Park (Rev. W.D. Kent Park) project.  On February 22, 2021 City staff received 
six sealed proposals, however, two were deemed non-responsive to the process requirements and were 
disqualified.  A review committee comprised of City and County staff reviewed four proposals and selected 
Gametime (Dominica Recreation Products) to enter into negotiations with the City.  Gametime has a 
positive history of project with Statesboro-Bulloch Parks & Recreation including playground equipment at 
Mill Creek Park. 
 
As part of their submittal GameTime provided a recommendation of possible playground equipment for 
both parks based on the site plans from Wood Environment & Infrastructure for a total amount of 
$499,684.22.   The equipment specified is ADA accessible and has been approved by Statesboro-Bulloch 
Parks & Recreation.  The project contractor will remove existing playground equipment and make 
necessary preparation for GameTime to install the new playground equipment.  The intent is to have all 
playground elements fully completed upon completion of construction on or before July 1, 2021. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Project will be funded by financing and debt service is to be paid from City and County SPLOST proceeds. 

Council Person and District: 
District 2, Councilmember Paulette Chavers 
 
Attachment:  
Proposals from GameTime 



1 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT  (Agreement”) is made and entered into this 16th day of 
March, 2018 by and between the CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA hereinafter 
referred to as the "City", party of the first part, and GameTime c/o Dominica Recreation 
Products, Inc. , hereinafter referred to as "Contractor", party of the second part, 
 
 WITNESSETH 
 
 WHEREAS, and in consideration of the mutual benefits accruing to the parties 
hereto, the Contractor hereby agrees to perform, and City agrees to compensate 
Contractor for, all necessary material and services to install recreational equipment at Rev 
W.D. Kent and Luetta Moore Parks, as described in the proposals dated February 26 2021 
to the Central Services Department, which are attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein (the “Proposal”), and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter provided: 
 

1. That written proposal is attached hereto and hereby made a part of this Agreement 
(“Proposal”) and the services described in the Proposal are hereinafter referred to 
as "Scope of Services"; provided, however, that the parties acknowledge and agree 
that any and all completion dates set forth in the Proposal shall be adjusted by 
mutual written agreement of the parties to take account of the date, if any, by which 
this Agreement is executed by both parties. 

 
2. Contractor’s compensation for the services outlined in the Scope of  

Services shall be $499,684.22. 
 

 
3. Contractor shall not perform any work that is clearly beyond the “Scope of 

Services” unless and until such work has been authorized in writing by the City of 
Statesboro.  Contractor’s compensation for work that is clearly beyond the 
“Scope of Services” shall be at a negotiated rate and in this instance, payment 
shall be made upon certified billing and progress reports to be made monthly to 
the City by Contractor for work performed during the preceding month, with 
payment to be made by the City within thirty (30) days from receipt of such 
billing.   
 

4. If any items in any invoices submitted by the Contractor are disputed by the City 
in good faith for any reason, including the lack of reasonable supporting 
documentation, City shall temporarily delete the item(s) and shall promptly notify 
Contractor of the dispute and request clarification and/or remedial action. After 
the dispute has been settled, Contractor shall include the disputed item on a 
subsequent regularly scheduled invoice or on a special invoice for the disputed 
item only.  The undisputed portion of the invoices shall, however, be paid within 
the normal 30-day period. 



2 
 

 
5. The Contractor assumes full responsibility for the payment of all assessments, 

payroll taxes, or contributions, whether State or Federal, as to all Contractor’s 
employees engaged in the performance of work under this contract.  In addition, 
the Contractor agrees to pay any and all gross receipts, compensation, 
transaction, sales, use, or other taxes and assessments of whatever nature and 
kind levied or assessed as a consequence of the work performed or on the 
compensation paid under this contract; provided, however, that, in no event shall 
Contractor be responsible for payment of any taxes relating to the City’s income. 
 

6. Alterations, deletions, and/or additions to the terms and conditions of this 
contract may only be made by the mutual written consent of the parties.  
 

7. Any term or condition of the Contract which by operation or existence is in 
conflict with applicable Local, State, or Federal Law shall be rendered void and 
inoperative. City and the Contractor agree to accept the remaining terms and 
conditions. 

 
8. Should any part of this Agreement be declared unenforceable, all remaining 

sections shall remain in effect. 
 

9. This Agreement is made under, and in all respects shall be interpreted, 
construed, and governed by and in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement shall lie in 
Bulloch County, Georgia. 

 
10. Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that they will not discriminate, with 

reference to work to be performed pursuant hereto, against any employee or 
applicants because of age, race, color, religion, sex, disability, sexual orientation, 
genetic information or national origin. 

 
11. All data, materials, documents, notes, memoranda, intellectual property, and other 

information provided or disclosed by Contractor to City, or otherwise used by 
Contractor to provide or perform any Scope of Services, in connection with this 
Agreement shall be owned solely and exclusively by Contractor and shall constitute 
the confidential and proprietary information of Contractor for all purposes hereunder 
(all the foregoing, collectively, “Contractor’s Confidential Information”).  The City 
shall neither copy, nor disclose nor distribute to any third party, any of Contractor’s’ 
Confidential Information without Contractor’s prior written consent unless required 
to do so by the Georgia Open Records Act (O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 et. seq.), other 
similar laws, in response to a court order, subpoena, or other legal process.  Prior 
to any such disclosure the City shall notify the Contractor.  Further, the City shall 
not use any such Contractor’s Confidential Information, except to the extent 
permitted hereunder.  The City’s obligations under this Section 11 shall survive any 



3 
 

termination or expiration of this Agreement, and promptly after any such termination 
or expiration, or upon any request by Contractor, the City shall return to Contractor 
all such Contractor’s’ Confidential Information and all copies thereof unless the City 
is required by law to retain the documents.  In no event shall the City acquire any 
ownership or other rights in any Contractor’s Confidential Information, whether by 
implication or otherwise, except to the extent expressly set forth herein.  Subject to 
the foregoing in this Section 11, Contractor shall make available to the City all data, 
notes and memoranda completed during the Scope of Services and upon 
completion of the services will forward to the City the results of the Scope of 
Services for its use.    

 
12. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time and for any reason 

upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice.  Upon termination Contractor shall be 
entitled to payment only for the actual cost of the work completed in conformity with 
this Agreement and any other costs actually incurred as are permitted by this 
Agreement.  

 
13. All claims, disputes and other matters arising out of or relating to this Agreement or 

the breach hereof shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

14. Contractor agrees, on behalf of City, to comply with the requirements of the Fair 
Credit Reporting Act.  Contractor agrees to give notice to and obtain written 
authorization from every applicant prior to conducting any background investigation 
on said applicant. 

 
15. This Agreement is intended by the parties hereto to be the final expression of 

their Agreement, and it constitutes the full and entire understanding between the 
parties with respect to the subject hereof, notwithstanding any representations, 
statements, or agreements to the contrary heretofore made. 

 



4 
 

WITNESS: DOMINICA REC PRODUCTS, INC  
 
 
 

_________________________________        
 

 
Vendor Number________________ 

 
 
 
Recommended by: _______________________________________ 
           Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
 
         
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
I Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
 
 
 
 
By:__________________________ By: _________________________________ 
      Leah Harden, City Clerk       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
 


























	03-16-2021 Council Agenda
	3-2-2021 Council Minutes
	CC memo_Surplus Equip_3-16-2021
	Council Memo_&_Packet_March_2021
	Alcohol Memo
	Food Lion Alcohol app
	Utility Billing Clerk (1)
	3-16 Utility Billing Clerk Resolution
	Memo Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant
	2021 Cigarette Litter Stand Request Form Grant Resolution 2021-13
	Memo Cigarette Litter Prevention Program Grant
	2021 CLPP Grant Resolution
	2021 Tree Grant Memo
	2021 Tree Grant Resolution
	SFD Physician-Council Agenda Memo-3-8-2021
	SFD Physician Contract-3-2021
	SFD Medical Director Position Description-Scope of Services
	Luetta Moore and Grady Street Park Playground Award Memo
	Playground Contract
	AGREEMENT
	WITNESSETH
	Vendor Number________________
	Recommended by: _______________________________________
	Charles Penny, City Manager
	APPROVED AS TO FORM:
	I Cain Smith, City Attorney
	ATTEST:      CITY OF STATESBORO

	Playground Proposal - Grady Street Park
	Playground Proposal - Luetta Moore Park



